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REMARKS BY JAMES L. GARVIN GIVEN ON SATURDAY, AUGUST 28, 2010, AT THE CELEBRATION OF THE HUNDREDTH ANNIVERSARY OF THE SHEDD-PORTER MEMORIAL LIBRARY, ALSTEAD, NEW HAMPSHIRE
It is a privilege to be with all of you—townsfolk and members of the Shedd family—at this celebration of the hundredth anniversary of the dedication of one of the finest buildings in New Hampshire.  And in terms of design, workmanship, and use of choice materials, this is truly one of our finest buildings, though it is small in comparison with our few other structures of comparable quality.  I can think of only two buildings—both libraries—that display comparable refinement.  The first is the building of the New Hampshire Historical Society in Concord, built of Concord granite and Siena marble in 1909-11.  It was the gift of Edward Tuck—like John Graves Shedd, a New Hampshire native who grew wealthy elsewhere (though in Tuck’s case, it was in Paris, not Chicago), and later wanted to give a precious gift to his native state.  The second is the Carpenter Memorial Library of 1912-14 in Manchester, built of white marble.  This monumental structure was the gift of Frank Pierce Carpenter, another New Hampshire native and a Manchester manufacturer who donated several fine buildings to his home city.
We may regard the Shedd-Porter Memorial Library as a symbol of the maturity of a library movement that began in the late 1700s and gave New Hampshire special distinction in the history of library development in the United States.  As elsewhere in New England, the first New Hampshire libraries were not public libraries.  They were collections of books that were purchased by organizations or corporations of private individuals, and then shared among the members of the group, usually being kept in the home of the individual who served as librarian.  These corporations were called “social libraries.”  The first in New Hampshire was the Portsmouth Social Library, established in 1750 by a group of the town’s wealthiest merchants, who ordered their collection of books from London and elsewhere.  Relatively few other New Hampshire towns were large or wealthy enough to establish social libraries until well after the Revolution, but by the 1790s, the social library movement was powerful and beneficial force throughout New Hampshire.  Writing in 1791, the New Hampshire historian Jeremy Belknap penned his description of the ideal town, which, among other institutions, ought to contain “a social library, annually increasing, and under good regulation.”  By 1820, some 180 such libraries had been organized in New Hampshire.  Alstead had one, incorporated in 1798.  East Alstead had its own separate social library, incorporated in 1804.  

Though it was a wonderful source for education and literacy, the social library had one serious defect when measured by more modern standards: its books could only be borrowed by its shareholders or proprietors.  The social library was in no sense a public library; the idea of a truly public collection of books had yet to be conceived.  Today, because of a revolutionary change that began in New Hampshire in the nineteenth century, few such private library collections, owned by a group of proprietors, remain in existence.  The Athenaeums in Boston and Portsmouth, founded in 1807 and 1817 respectively, are among the few survivors of the social library movement. 
The movement that swept away the social library had its origins in New Hampshire.  At a town meeting on April 9, 1833, the voters of the town of Peterborough agreed to do something that had never been done before: to tax themselves to establish a library that would be open to every citizen of the town.  Peterborough claims thereby to have established the “oldest free public library in the world supported by taxation,” and no one seems to have challenged this proud claim.  
Peterborough voters acted strictly on local impulse in 1833.  It took some years for this momentous idea to be sanctioned at the state level.  But in 1849, the New Hampshire General Court passed a law—the first of its kind in the nation—that officially sanctioned the Peterborough precedent by authorizing any New Hampshire town to spend tax dollars to establish public libraries.  The same law authorized towns to receive gifts for the support of such libraries and to purchase land and erect library buildings.
  
This ground-breaking legislation began an ever-increasing statewide commitment to the establishment of free public libraries.  The provisions of the law that authorized the purchase of land and the erection of buildings were to have far-reaching effects at the end of the nineteenth century, when two further laws ensured that the public library would become a fixture in nearly every New Hampshire community.  
In 1891, the legislature passed an innovative law that obligated the state to assist towns that took advantage of the statute of 1849.  This legislation required the state to offer books worth $100 to any town that began a library by voting to appropriate an annual sum based on the value of taxable property in the community.  The law of 1891 also created a state board of library commissioners whose duties included the provision of professional guidance in librarianship to any such town.
  A hundred dollars worth of books doesn’t sound like much at today’s prices.  While today $100 might purchase only two or three volumes in some genres, that amount in 1891 created the nucleus of a substantial library for any community that committed itself to establishing such an institution.
Finally, in 1895 New Hampshire moved to the final stage of state oversight of local public libraries.  In that year, the legislature passed a ground-breaking law—again, the first of its kind in the nation—that required each town in the state to appropriate funds for the establishment of a free public library and to appoint a local board of library trustees, unless the electorate voted each year no to do so.
  In other words, no town could avoid establishing a public library unless it voted each year to fend off the creation of such an institution.  It is no accident that many New Hampshire public libraries trace their establishment to 1896 or 1897. The result of this law was an almost universal presence of public libraries in New Hampshire by the first decades of the twentieth century.  By 1914, Governor Samuel D. Felker could report that there were only thirteen New Hampshire towns without a public library, and that of those sixteen, six were accumulating funds for the establishment of a library.

But even when New Hampshire communities appropriated sufficient funds to secure the $100 worth of books from the state, or after 1895 set aside an annual appropriation for a public library, such an institution was by no means secure.  It was one thing to create a public library as an institution with a small collection of books; it was a very different thing to erect a library building even remotely like the one we are celebrating today.  This was an age of farm abandonment, rural decline, and shrinking tax bases in most New Hampshire towns.  New Hampshire town histories abound with tales of book collections housed in out-of-the-way rooms above or behind stores, crowded into chambers not much bigger than closets, locked away and stifled through lack of a librarian’s care, and often little more accessible to the general public than had been the collections of the earlier private social libraries.  Poor New Hampshire communities could seldom afford to erect an appropriate building for a library.  Most New Hampshire public libraries languished until some private individual stepped forward to endow the construction of a proper library building.  Of the 110 library buildings constructed in New Hampshire before 1930, only about ten appear to have been erected wholly by community funds.
Under the circumstances of the period, private initiative and philanthropy frequently compensated for inadequate local revenues.  The period from 1890 to 1915 became an ager of notable—sometimes astonishing—philanthropy in New Hampshire’s library history.  Local citizens or summer visitors, grown wealthy through inheritance, business enterprise, or careful frugality, often stepped forward to do what the local community could not do for itself.  Some donors welcomed the opportunity to present their gifts publicly, sometimes delivering lengthy addresses or publishing commemorative booklets to mark the occasion.  Others sought anonymity.  Many were not wealthy enough to give such gifts during their lifetimes, but chose to devote a large portion of their estates to the fulfillment of their purpose, their intentions unsuspected by the community until their wills were read.  
In all cases, a donor would frequently commemorate a spouse or a parent by naming the building as a memorial to that person.  Honoring this tradition, John Graves Shedd and his wife, Mary Roenna Porter Shedd, presented this building as a memorial to William and Abigail Wallace Shedd and Winslow B. and Laura M. B. Porter.
Whatever the ultimate source of a rural public library building, the ideal design of such a building had become well established when John and Mary Shedd donated this structure.  The Shedd-Porter Memorial Library might be regarded as a paradigm of the small library of the early twentieth century.  Typically, as here, the buildings are symmetrical in plan, and often classical in architectural vocabulary.  Independent of the stylistic vocabulary they displayed, most library buildings of this era followed a T-shaped floor plan.  Behind an entrance vestibule is a rotunda or “delivery room,” often with a permanent librarian’s desk or alcove at its side or far end.  On each side of the rotunda or entrance hall is a large, well-lighted room, frequently fitted with bookshelves, filled with sturdy and comfortable furniture, and warmed by a fireplace.  Originally, one of these rooms was often designated as a reading room (sometimes with a separate reference room adjoining), while the other was set aside as an art room or a memorial to the donor or the person in whose honor the building was named.  Behind the rotunda is the “book room” or stacks.  Many such libraries had a small lecture hall on a second floor or (as in the Shed-Porter Memorial) in the basement.  
Most such buildings, even if only one story in height, have very high walls with large windows set well above the floor in both the front and end walls of the reading rooms, sometimes with seats or bookcases below the windows.  One reason for this careful provision of ample natural illumination was that many New Hampshire towns had not yet been provided with electricity when their library buildings were erected, so the architects had to be careful to provide natural means of lighting and ventilating the buildings, designing windows large and high enough to throw light to the far walls of the reading rooms.  This was not the case with Alstead, where electricity had been available in the village by 1897.  Unlike many small-town library buildings of the late 1800s and early 1900s, the Shedd-Porter Memorial was therefore able to take advantage of electricity to offer both general illumination of the rooms and striking architectural effects, as in the halo of incandescent bulbs around the base of the rotunda dome.
The Shedd-Porter Memorial is not only a paradigm of the small library building; it is also a design of one of the most experienced and prolific firms of library designers in the early twentieth century: the architectural partnership of McLean and Wright of Boston.   The firm was active under that name from about 1902 to 1911.  It was a partnership of William H. McLean and Albert Hayden Wright, both of whom had practiced individually before 1902 and would continue to practice after 1911 under other firm names.  McLean and Wright specialized in designing public buildings, especially libraries.  In New Hampshire, the partnership was responsible for more public library buildings than any other single firm or architect—eight in all: Alstead, Bow, Franconia, Franklin, Greenfield, Lancaster, Lebanon, and Wilton.  Of these, all are thoughtfully designed and several display opulent materials and detailing.  But only the Shedd-Porter Memorial is built of granite (the others are brick and limestone), and only the Shedd-Porter Memorial has a dome to surmount and light its rotunda.
Two of the McLean and Wright libraries in New Hampshire—Franklin and Lebanon—were built with funding supplied by the world’s most famous donor of libraries, Andrew Carnegie. But of over 200 public library buildings constructed in New Hampshire, only nine were Carnegie libraries.  New Hampshire people were willing and grateful to receive the gift of a library building from a trusted native who had succeeded in life and offered to create a memorial to a loved one.  But they had a very different attitude toward one of the richest men in the world who, remembering the difficulty with which he obtained access to books in his youth, decided to devote his later years and much of his fortune to the donation of library buildings worldwide, but especially in the United States.
The New Hampshire attitude toward accepting such charity from a stranger was summed by Albert Pillsbury, a Milford native who spent much of his career as attorney general of Massachusetts, yet donated what is now Pillsbury State Park in Washington, New Hampshire, and was a founder of the Society for the Protection of New Hampshire Forests.  Pillsbury was a speaker at the dedication of several public library buildings in New Hampshire.  In 1909, at the dedication of the Daland Memorial Library in Mont Vernon, Pillsbury warned against that “modern Croesus who has endowed some hundreds of public libraries with some forty millions of dollars.”  Speaking of the sensitive issue of accepting philanthropic charity from such a man as Carnegie, the stern Pillsbury warned, “I question the wisdom and motives of a community which avails [itself] of that offer, writing its name upon the roll of public mendicancy to the detriment of its reputation, and as I think it must be, of its character and self-respect.”

The attitude of New Hampshire people was different when former or current townsfolk were involved in the building of a library.   At the dedication in 1913 of a library building given by local people, the Reverend Arthur Little offered his explanation for Boscawen’s refusal to seek a Carnegie library: 

. . . if you had received it and it had been dedicated to-day there would have been no such gathering as this.  We should have had no such emotions as stir our hearts this afternoon; we should have attached no such value to the building as we attach to it now; for it would have lacked that which gives value to almost everything—namely, the personal equation.

“The personal equation” was evident in the dedication of the Shedd-Porter Memorial Library a hundred years ago.  On that occasion, as documented by photographs and reports, the village streets were filled with throngs from Alstead and Langdon.  These people received a gift of the perpetual use of one of the finest small library buildings in New England, offered to them by a native son and daughter—a building, as memorialized by the bronze tablet in the south reading room, that was dedicated to the memory of the donors’ parents, “long time residents of Alstead and Langdon.”
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